
President’s Report  
and Financial Statements

for 2012-13



Sangren Hall



Table of Contents

 1 Table of Contents

 2 A Message from the President

15  A Message from the Chief Financial Officer

17  2013 Leadership

19  Independent Auditor’s Report

22 Management’s Discussion and Analysis

32 Statement of Net Position

33 Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

34 Statement of Cash Flows

36 Discretely Presented Component Units  
  Balance Sheet and Statement of Activities and  
  Changes in Net Assets

37  Notes to Financial Statements 
  June 30, 2013 and 2012

It is the policy and commitment of Western Michigan University not to discriminate on the basis 
of race, sex, age, color, national origin, height, weight, marital status, sexual orientation, religion, 
disability or Veteran status in its educational programs, activities, admissions or employment poli-
cies in accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title IX of the Education Amend-
ments Act of 1972, Executive Order 11246 as amended, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
and all other pertinent federal and state regulations.
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“The University’s  
financial position  
remained strong  
at June 30, 2013, 

with assets of 
$946.8 million  

and liabilities of 
$549.5 million.” 

I am pleased to share with you the results of this annual 
report on Western Michigan University’s financial 
performance for the 2012-13 fiscal year that ended June 30.

As a public research university noted for adding value to 
the lives it touches and the communities it serves, we take 
pride in our careful management of resources and good 
stewardship of public investments that this report reflects.  
It gives me great pleasure to share this overall assessment. 

The University’s financial position remained strong at  
June 30, 2013, with assets of $946.8 million and liabilities 
of $549.5 million.

The work that has gone into achieving the financial health 
summarized by that very simple statement can only be 
called monumental. Nationally, few areas of endeavor have 
seen the challenges that public higher education has faced. 

For public institutions in the state of Michigan, the reductions in 
state funding have been deep and of longer duration than those 
faced by schools in the rest of the nation. But this University has 
never faltered in its commitment to remain an exceptional value to 
the 25,000 students served as well as an economic development 
resource for the region, state and nation that we call home.

Even as the state and nation’s economic downturn played out, we 
took steps to affirm and proactively enhance the three pillars that 
summarize our mission, anchor our strategic plan and encapsulate 
our promise to those we serve. Western Michigan University is a 
public research university that is:

 • Learner centered,

 • Discovery driven, and

 • Globally engaged.

Throughout the period that this financial report covers, our 
credentials in each of those three areas have been enhanced. 
Initiatives extending our commitment in each area have deepened. 
And our national profile has risen accordingly. The financial 
decisions we make every day are informed by these three tenets 
that are central to our identity. Our efforts to use our resources 
wisely have attracted national attention as we have worked hard 
to build a campus culture of sustainability in which every single 
resource—human and environmental—is leveraged to achieve its 
maximum potential.
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Learner centered—value and access
At Western Michigan University, our core commitment is to add 
value to the lives we touch, the communities we serve and to the 
world we all share.

Perhaps no part of that commitment is as critical to what we do 
as the ability to touch and transform the lives of learners—our 
students and the members of our academic community who have 
built their lives around the goal of always being open to new ideas 
and technology that can fundamentally alter our world.

Value is combination of quality and reasonable cost
For our students, that commitment and the high level of stewardship 
reflected in this report means that they are the recipient of what 
those who write about higher education have called our “best-
bang-for-the-buck” status. While the descriptor may be inelegant, 
it is accurate.

For students, value can best be described as offering extraordinary 
opportunity at a cost that is below what one would expect to pay. 
That is the quality we offer to every student. Students who choose 
WMU are assured that they will have every opportunity to achieve 
their goals. Whatever the research resource, top-notch learning 
environment, faculty engagement, internship or study abroad 
opportunity students desire is available at this Carnegie-designated 
high-research public university.

“At Western  
Michigan  
University, our 
core commitment 
is to add value to 
the lives we touch, 
the communities 
we serve and 
to the world we  
all share.”
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“...they are the 
recipient of what-
those who write 
about higher  
education have 
called our ‘best-
bang-for-the-buck‘ 
status. While  
the descriptor  
may be inelegant,  
it is accurate.” 

Again, the good stewardship reflected in this report allows us to 
offer all of these resources at a cost that remains in the lower half 
of the tuition costs of all of Michigan’s 15 public universities. Our 
cost structure continues to belie the fact that we are one of only  
five Michigan universities classified as research universities and 
able to offer the level of education that only a research university 
can ensure.

The magazine Washington Monthly offers a “best-bang-for-the-
buck” assessment and has included WMU twice on its annual 
“exclusive list of the colleges in America that do the best job 
of helping nonwealthy students attain marketable degrees at 
affordable prices.” The millennial online news site PolicyMic has 
taken the measure a step further and named WMU among the top 
12 schools in the nation offering students great value. 

Access and support for a diverse student body
For many learners, value also means finding a school that has 
built an infrastructure of support that allows them to address their 
individual needs and challenges. Veterans, international students, 
students who have aged out of foster care, honors students and 
those who represent the first generation in their family to attend 
college are among those who find a supportive structure at WMU. 
And each of them, in turn, is able to bring their own experience and 
world view to our campus to enhance diversity—diversity in the 
broadest meaning of the term.
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Two good examples of WMU work and investments that smooth the path of distinct populations include 
the work being done with military veterans and the efforts underway to address the challenges of students 
who have aged out of foster care. 

Service to veterans 
Since 2008, we have reached out to active and returning veterans, offering in-state tuition to them and 
their families and providing the resources they need to succeed. Of Michigan’s four-year colleges and 
universities, WMU serves the largest number of veterans and has been honored nationally for being a 
veteran-friendly campus with the services needed to help them achieve success. In early 2013, the federal 
government singled out WMU as the only Michigan school to make its list of the nation’s colleges and 
universities that are “leading the way” to foster postsecondary educational opportunities and dramatically 
improve employment outcomes for returning service members. 

Students raised in foster care
Known as Seita Scholars, our former foster 
care youth are part of the nation’s largest and 
most comprehensive program dedicated to the 
success of young people who have aged out 
of foster care. Now serving 160 students, the 
program provides a full-tuition scholarship and 
campus coaches dedicated to their success. 
That combination of support has proven 
effective. In the five years since we launched 
this program, 28 students have successfully 
completed their bachelor’s degrees, enabling 
them to become the productive citizens and 
professionals they’ve dreamed of being.

Third annual Veterans 5K Run at WMU

April 2013 Seita Scholar graduates with President Dunn and 
two campus coaches
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“From state-of-the 
art residence halls 
and dining facilities 
to apartment living 
that appeals to 
upperclassmen,  
our focus is on  
creating campus 
neighborhoods  
that can best serve 
student needs.”

Western View Community Building

Enlarging and enhancing the on-campus living experience
We know that strong campus learning communities are the key to helping 
students remain engaged—academically and socially—throughout  
their years at WMU. To that end, we’ve invested in on-campus living to  
support our students at every step of their journey. From state-of-the art 
residence halls and dining facilities to apartment living that appeals to 
upperclassmen, our focus is on creating campus neighborhoods that 
can best serve student needs. 

In 2013, we expanded our popular Western View student apartment- 
style residences by adding two new buildings and a community center  
to encourage student gatherings. We also launched a campuswide 
reorganization of our student living and dining offerings. Plan 2015 is  
a long-term strategic initiative to blend housing and dining needs with  
the academic success goals of a new generation of college students. 
New residence halls and dining facilities will be part of a campus 
organized into four distinctive campus neighborhoods.

Expanding opportunity for learners
Value also demands that, as an institution, we always be agile and 
ready to take advantage of emerging opportunities—thinking long term  
even when it defies the common wisdom for the short term. Western 
Michigan University is in the midst of two such initiatives, a new medical 
school and affiliation with America’s largest law school.  While public 
funding is not available to bring that kind of professional education 
expansion to WMU, two public/private partnerships are accomplishing 
just that. And a number of other recent campus developments illustrate  
the power of leveraging the generosity of private donors to raise the bar  
and enhance the learning environment.
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School of Medicine to open in 2014
Since 2008, the Kalamazoo community has 
come together with WMU to launch a new 
private WMU School of Medicine. By fall of 
2014, the first class will be enrolled in a new 
medical school that is a collaboration involving 
WMU and two local world-class teaching 
hospitals. During the 2012-13 fiscal year, an 
enormous amount of work has been underway. 
A donated pharmaceutical research facility is 
midway through a renovation that will turn it 
into a home for the School of Medicine, and 
top-notch faculty from around the nation have 
been recruited and are already preparing an 
innovative new curriculum for the 21st century.

Affiliation with nation’s largest law 
school is now in progress
Early in 2013, we also announced a move 

designed to provide even more professional educational opportunities to our academic community. A 
formal affiliation between the University and the private Thomas M. Cooley Law School will provide a 
platform for expanded undergraduate opportunities and the potential for new dual degree program and 
collaborative research and public service initiatives. Cooley, which has more than 3,000 students on five 
campuses in two states, will become the Western Michigan University Thomas M. Cooley Law School.

School of Medicine Dean Hal Jenson at topping-off ceremony 
for new facility

Prospective affiliate Thomas M. Cooley Law School is nation’s largest
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“Private support 
has allowed us 
to preserve our 
region’s historic 
treasures and store 
them in our new, 
state-of-the-art 
archival facility.”

The University’s 100-year-old School of Music joined the elite corps of All Steinway schools in 2013

Leveraging private funding to improve learning, service
Such public/private collaborations are having an impact across our 
academic enterprise as we work to find new ways to maximize the 
opportunities our students have to excel in every discipline.  
 • Our acclaimed School of Music, for instance, celebrated 
 its 100th anniversary this year with a new designation as an  
 All Steinway School. Practices, lessons and performances now 
 are completed using the school’s 123 Steinway pianos, thanks to 
 the generous donor support that allowed us to ensure that 90  
 percent of the instruments we provide for students were made  
 by the famed Steinway company.

 • Private support has allowed us to preserve our region’s historic 
 treasures and store them in our new, state-of-the-art archival  
 facility, the Zhang Legacy Collections Center. Using geothermal  
 technology, the new 16,000-square-foot building houses the  
 University’s archives and the regional history collection for 12 
 southwest Michigan counties. The building was built using donor 
 funds and will serve scholars both on and off campus.
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Discovery, inquiry set tone for  
regional development
The drive for discovery is inculcated into the 
campuswide culture. Basic and translational 
breakthroughs keep faculty at the cutting 
edge of their disciplines and allow students 
to learn by example. And spinout companies 
from WMU research offer a blueprint for the 
future. They focus on such technology as 
micro-laser assisted machining, software 
to help treat depression and post-traumatic 
stress disorder, a career guidance and 
assessment tool, and development of a  
new tissue cassette for biological samples.

And partnerships with the state and donor 
community allowed some of the University’s 
most interesting new developments during 
the past year. For instance, a move by the 
Michigan legislature to designate WMU 
as the home to the Michigan Geological 
Survey is already paying dividends. The 
combined resources of the survey and 
WMU’s Department of Geosciences that 
now manages the survey resulted in a major 
mineral discovery in West Michigan. WMU 
geoscientists were able to confirm the 
extent of a potash deposit that is the highest 
quality such deposit known worldwide.  
It could serve as the basis for a $65 billion 
industry for our state.

And a special donor-funded research facility 
on campus is turning the cartography world 
on end with its new commercial digital 
mapping products. The W.E. Upjohn Center 
for the Study of Geographical Change 
developed a series of multilayered digital 
maps designed for use with GIS-enabled 
mobile devices. The maps were judged 
the best new digital products in North or 
South America by the International Map 
Industry Association. Available so far are 
some 35,000 maps of U.S. places, primarily 
Michigan and the East and West coasts.

Digital map depicting northern Michigan’s Leelanau Peninsula  
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“Basic and  
translational  
breakthroughs 
keep faculty  
at the cutting  
edge of their  
disciplines and  
allow students to 
learn by example.”

Engaging the global neighborhood
Western Michigan University is globally engaged and has claimed 
that as one of its hallmarks for generations. Today, as I travel 
around the globe on University business, I am always struck by the 
long and strong ties that link us to organizations around the world. 
I was privileged, as an example, to be in Tokyo in summer 2013 
to celebrate a 50th anniversary reunion with a large group of our 
Japanese alumni. 

Now, we are forging new alliances that we know will have the same 
generational impact. Since 2009, our University has been home to a 
Confucius Institute that enables us to tap the language and culture 
resources of our Chinese partner school, the renowned Beijing 
Language and Culture University. Even more recent partnerships 
include:

 • A partnership with the Dominican Republic that brings us one 
 of our largest international populations—currently 156 students.  
 Looking forward, we’re investigating even more alliances with  
 the DR that may include expanding graduate education options  
 in that nation.

 • A new alliance with Brazil that brings some 89 undergraduates 
 to WMU to study in one of the STEM disciplines—science,  
 technology, engineering and mathematics. Among American  
 institutions, WMU has the fourth largest number of Brazilian  
 students studying through Brazil’s Scientific Mobility  
 Scholarship Program. 

Representatives of WMU’s Brazilian students in the STEM disciplines
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These global relationships, like the commitments described earlier 
in this message, represent investments of time and treasure for the 
outcome of a better future. They are investments already returning 
value and well worth continuing.    

I invite you to learn more about our great University and its place in 
our state, nation and world. We are deeply committed to the wide 
range of audiences we serve and always determined to extend our 
reach as a learner-centered, discovery driven and globally engaged 
institution that is focused on the future.

Warmest regards,

John M. Dunn,
President, 
Western Michigan University

“Now, we 
are forging 

new alliances 
that we know 

will have 
the same 

generational  
impact.” 
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A Message from the Chief Financial Officer

During the 2012-13 fiscal year, Western Michigan University 
successfully continued its long tradition of maintaining a strong 
financial footing while enhancing the level of opportunity and value 
that students and constituents around the state and nation have  
come to expect and enjoy.

The pages that follow include detail on the University’s financial 
position. The report has been reviewed by our external auditor  
Plante & Moran PLLC, and presented to the WMU Board of  
Trustees. We offer it to the community more broadly in the spirit  
of transparency.  

The attached financial statements and financial indicators reflect 
the steady progress WMU continues to make as it fulfills the goals 
of its three-year strategic plan, leverages the public and private 
funds entrusted to it, and embarks on new opportunities that keep 
the academic community firmly focused on the future. Careful 
stewardship of resources has allowed us to steadily enhance our 
reputation as a university that is focused on the strategic three pillars 
of being learner centered, discovery driven and globally engaged.

Each day, we put the traditions of sound accounting and investment to 
work in the service of those three pillars that so eloquently summarize 
this University’s mission and identity. Short-term needs and 
challenges are continually balanced against long-term commitments 
and opportunities. This report is offered as an illustration of the  
sound financial status that is the result of the daily efforts devoted  
to those goals.  

Jan J. Van Der Kley
Vice President for Business and Finance
Western Michigan University
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Western Michigan University

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

East Hall, WMU’s first facility, built in 1903The Oaklands campus residence
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

6 

 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 

To the Board of Trustees 
Western Michigan University 

 
Report on the Financial Statements 

 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Western Michigan University, a component 
unit of the State of Michigan, and its discretely presented component units (the “University”) as of and for 
the year ended June 30, 2013 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise Western Michigan University’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
The discretely presented component units were not audited under Government Auditing Standards. 

 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

(Continued on page 20)
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To the Board of Trustees 
Western Michigan University 

 

 

 
Opinion 

 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Western Michigan University and its discretely presented component units as of June 
30, 2013 and the changes in its financial position for the year then ended, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 
Emphasis of Matter 

 
As discussed in Note 1 to the basic financial statements, effective July 1, 2012, the University adopted 
new accounting guidance under Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, 
The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus. Statement No. 61 is an amendment to Statement No. 14 and 
Statement No. 34, modifying certain requirements for inclusion of component units in the financial 
reporting entity. The University also adopted GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred 
Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, and GASB Statement No. 65, 
Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. These statements introduce and define those 
elements as a consumption of net assets by the University that is applicable to a future reporting period 
and an acquisition of net asset by the University that is applicable to a future reporting period, respectively. 
The standards also incorporate deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, as 
defined by GASB Concepts Statement No. 4, into the definitions of the required components of the 
residual measure of net position, formerly net assets. Our opinion is not modified with respect to these 
matters. 

 
Other Matters 

 
Required Supplemental Information 

 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplemental information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 

(Continued from page 19)

To the Board of Trustees
Western Michigan University
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To the Board of Trustees 
Western Michigan University 

 

 

 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 23, 
2013 on our consideration of Western Michigan University’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Western Michigan 
University’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
 

 
 

September 23, 2013 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
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Western Michigan University

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Western Michigan University  
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 

The following discussion and analysis of Western Michigan University’s (the “University”) financial 
statements provides an overview of the University’s financial activities for the year ended June 30, 
2013. Management has prepared the financial statements and the related footnote disclosures along with 
the discussion and analysis. Responsibility for the completeness and fairness of this information rests with 
University management. 

 
The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching places Western Michigan University among 
the 74 public institutions in the nation designated as research universities with high research activity. With 
an enrollment of 24,500, the University is recognized as the fourth largest university in the state of 
Michigan. U.S. News & World Report’s annual ranking of American colleges and universities includes 
Western Michigan University as one of the nation’s top 100 public universities. 

 
Financial Highlights 

 
The University’s financial position remained strong at June 30, 2013, with assets of $946.8 million 
and liabilities of $549.5 million. 

 
The University invests its working capital to maximize total return, with an appropriate level of risk. The 
University’s holdings are invested in short-, intermediate-, and long-term investment pool accounts. The 
investment strategy governing the endowment assets seeks to maximize total return over the long run. 

 
The following chart provides a graphical breakdown of net position by category for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011: 
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Western Michigan University

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Western Michigan University  

 

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
 
 

The University has committed the unrestricted net position to provide for identified future needs. 
These needs include contractual obligations, debt service, student loans, capital outlay, insurance 
reserves, academic programming needs, and other postemployment benefits. 

 
The University’s financial statements were prepared in accordance with criteria established by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board for determining the various governmental organizations to be 
included in the reporting entity (GASB Statement No. 61). These criteria include significant operational 
or financial relationships.  Based on the application of the criteria, the University has four component 
units. The Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper Technology Foundation, Western Michigan 
University Research Foundation (collectively, the “Foundations”), and Western Michigan University 
School of Medicine’s financial statements are discretely presented as part of the University’s reporting 
entity. The component units’ financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles as prescribed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). 

 
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position 

 
The University’s financial report includes three financial statements, the statement of net position, the 
statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position, and the statement of cash flows. 

 
These financial statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting, which 
is similar to the accounting used by most private sector institutions. All of the current year’s revenue 
and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
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Western Michigan University

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Western Michigan University  

 

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
 
 

The following is a summary of the major components of the net position and operating results of the 
University for the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011: 

 
Net Position as of June 30 (in millions) 

 

 
2013 2012 2011 

 
Assets 

Current assets 
Noncurrent assets: 

 

 
$ 79.4 $ 

 

 
89.7 $ 

 

 
115.8 

Capital assets - Net of depreciation 727.8 707.7 646.4 
Other   139.6   121.5   119.2 

 

Total assets 946.8 918.9 881.4 
 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 97.3  83.5 80.7 
Long-term liabilities   452.2   460.3   466.9 

 

Total liabilities   549.5   543.8   547.6 
 

Net Position 
Net investment in capital assets $ 429.5 $ 406.3 $ 363.0 
Restricted 18.3                  18.0                  27.0 
                 (50.5)   (49.2)   (56.2) 

Total net position $  397.3 $  375.1 $  333.8 
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The following is a summary of the major components of the net position and operating results of the 
University for the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011: 

 
Net Position as of June 30 (in millions) 

 

 
2013 2012 2011 

 
Assets 

Current assets 
Noncurrent assets: 

 

 
$ 79.4 $ 

 

 
89.7 $ 

 

 
115.8 

Capital assets - Net of depreciation 727.8 707.7 646.4 
Other   139.6   121.5   119.2 

 

Total assets 946.8 918.9 881.4 
 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 97.3  83.5 80.7 
Long-term liabilities   452.2   460.3   466.9 

 

Total liabilities   549.5   543.8   547.6 
 

Net Position 
Net investment in capital assets $ 429.5 $ 406.3 $ 363.0 
Restricted 18.3                  18.0                  27.0 
                 (50.5)   (49.2)   (56.2) 

Total net position $  397.3 $  375.1 $  333.8 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
 
 

Operating Results for the Years Ended June 30 (in millions) 
 

 
  2013 2012  2011 
 

Operating Revenue 
Tuition and fees - Net 

 
$ 223.2 

 
$ 219.8 

  
 
$ 202.7 

Grants and contracts 24.3 28.2  31.0
Auxiliary activities - Net 94.9 95.7  93.9
Other 42.7 37.6    35.5

Total operating revenue 385.1 381.3  363.1 

Operating Expenses 
Instruction 158.9 155.9 

  
158.0 

Departmental research 19.5 23.0  27.5
Public service 11.2 11.3  10.8
Academic support 50.6 48.8  49.5
Student services 25.8 24.3  25.9
Institutional support 47.5 39.0  35.2
Operations and maintenance of plant 36.3 38.3  37.7
Scholarships and fellowships 33.6 34.9  38.1
Auxiliary activities 86.0 92.0  77.3
Depreciation 26.7 25.3  25.8
Other expenditures   14.9   3.2    9.6 

Total operating expenses   511.0   496.0    495.4 

Net Operating Loss (125.9) (114.7)  (132.3) 

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)   

State appropriations 95.5 93.2  109.6
Gifts 43.4 14.9  14.1
Other net nonoperating (expense) revenue (5.6) 8.7    34.0

Total nonoperating revenue 133.3 116.8  157.7 

Other 
Capital appropriations 12.8 16.8 

  
- 

Capital grants, contracts, and other 2.0 22.4    3.2

Total other   14.8   39.2    3.2 

Increase in Net Position 22.2 41.3  28.6 

Net Position - Beginning of year   375.1   333.8    305.2 

Net Position - End of year $ 397.3 $ 375.1  $ 333.8 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
 
 

Operating Revenue 
 

Operating revenue includes all transactions that result in the sales and/or receipts from goods and 
services such as tuition and fees, housing, and bookstore operations. In addition, certain federal, 
state, and private grants are considered operating if they are not for capital purposes and are 
considered a contract for services. 

 
Student tuition and fees revenue increased as a result of the board of trustees raising the rates by 3.91 
percent for resident undergraduate students. For resident undergraduate students enrolled in 30 credit 
hours during an academic year, this increase equates to an additional $376 of tuition and fees. Room and 
meal plan rates increased 2.0 percent. This equates to an additional $161 for the academic year for a 
15-meal plan. Students already living in the residence halls are not subject to an increase. Student tuition 
and fees revenue increased in fiscal year 2012 compared to fiscal year 2011 as a result of the board of 
trustees raising the rates by 6.6 percent for resident undergraduate students. 

 
The following is a graphic illustration of operating revenue by source: 

 
 
 
 

Tuition and 
Fees 
58% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Grants and 
Contracts 

6% 

Auxiliary 
Activities 

25% 
 
 
Other 
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Operating Expenses 
 

Operating expenses are all the costs necessary to perform and conduct the programs and primary 
purposes of the University. Operating expenses were significantly impacted by increases in the costs of 
compensation, student financial aid, and academic programming. Other expenditures increased $11.6 
million from fiscal year 2012. A total of $2.0 million of this increase resulted from implementing GASB 
No. 65 and expensing bond issuance costs that were previously capitalized. Project expenses that were 
not capitalized increased $5.5 million, loss on asset retirements increased $1.9 million, and health 
insurance costs rose $2.8 million over the previous year. 

 
The University is equally committed to providing financial support to students. In each fiscal year, 
funds made available for scholarships grow in the same proportion as the rate increase for tuition.  The 
University has long sponsored its prestigious Medallion Scholarship program, which attracts some of the 
brightest and most promising students. The University also offers several other merit-based awards 
including the Presidential and Provost Scholarships. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
 
 

The following is a graphic illustration of operating expenses by source: 
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Nonoperating Revenue and Expenses 
 

Nonoperating revenue and expenses are primarily nonexchange in nature. They would consist primarily of 
state appropriations and investment income (including realized and unrealized gains and losses), and 
grants and contracts that do not require any services to be performed. 

 
Nonoperating revenue and expenses were significantly impacted by the following factors: 

 
• The state appropriation revenue increased $2.3 million or 2.5 percent from fiscal year 2012. 

The state appropriation for fiscal year 2012 decreased $16.4 million or 15 percent and for fiscal year 
2011 it decreased $900. 

 
• Investment income increased from the prior year by approximately $7.6 million. This is a result of a 

change from a prior year loss to a current year unrealized gain in the amount of $2.3 million, and an 
increase in realized gain from the prior year in the amount of $5.3 million. 

 
• Other nonoperating expense includes $32.7 million of transfers during fiscal year 2013, of which $2.7 

million was transferred to Western Michigan University School of Medicine (WMed). A total of $30 
million was transferred to the Western Michigan University Foundation WMed quasi-endowment. The 
WMed quasi-endowment was established for gifts to Western Michigan University for the benefit of 
WMed. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
 
 

Other 
 

Other activity consists of items that are typically nonrecurring, extraordinary, or unusual to the University. 
An example would be capital appropriations from the state or federal government and transfers from 
related entities. 

 
Other activity was significantly impacted by the following: 

 
Capital grants, contracts, and other revenue totaled $2.0 million in 2013, $22.4 million in 2012, and $3.2 
million in 2011. During fiscal year 2012, the University received a donated building valued at $20.1 
million. 

 
State capital appropriations for the new College of Education and Human Development facility were $12.8 
million in 2013 and $16.8 million in 2012. 

 
Statement of Cash Flows 

 
Another way to assess the financial health of the University is to look at the statement of cash flows. Its 
primary purpose is to provide relevant information about the cash receipts and cash payments of an entity 
during a period. The statement of cash flows also helps users assess the following: 

 
•    An entity’s ability to generate future net cash flows 
•    Its ability to meet obligations as they come due 
•    Its needs for external financing 

 
Cash Flows for the Years Ended June 30 (in millions) 

 
 
 

Cash (Used in) Provided by 
2013 2012 2011 

Operating activities $ (85.2) $ (92.7)  $ (96.4) 
Noncapital financing activities 134.5 135.0  153.2
Capital and related financing activities (47.7) (46.5)  (39.5)
Investing activities 0.5 1.2    1.8

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash 2.1 (3.0)  19.1 

Cash - Beginning of year   33.5   36.5    17.4 

Cash - End of year $ 35.6 $ 33.5  $ 36.5 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
 

 
 

The most significant components of cash flows provided from operating activities are tuition and fees, 
auxiliary activities, and grants and contracts. Net cash used in operating activities was $85.2 million. This is 
compared to net cash used in operating activities in the amounts of $92.7 million and $96.4 million for the 
years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. To offset the $85.2 million operating use, the net cash 
provided from noncapital financing activities, which consisted primarily of state appropriations, was $134.5 
million. Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities was $135.0 million and $153.2 million for the 
years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Cash used in capital and related financing activities 
totaled $47.7 million, primarily the result of capital additions during the year in the amount of $52.4 million 
and interest paid on capital debt in the amount of $14.4 million. Cash provided by investing activities 
was $0.5 million. This is compared to $1.2 million and $1.8 million for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 
2011, respectively. 

 
Capital Assets 

 
At June 30, 2013, the University had $1.2 billion invested in capital assets and accumulated depreciation of 
$462.0 million. Depreciation charges totaled $26.8 million, $25.3 million and 
$25.8 million for the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Details of these amounts are 
below: 

 
2013 2012 2011 

 

 

 
Land, land improvements, and infrastructure 

 
$ 86,517,749 

 
$ 79,709,353 

 

 
$ 76,248,602 

Buildings and improvements 900,219,220 838,660,997 796,943,599 
Buildings under capital lease 10,578,574 10,578,574 10,578,574 
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 66,977,890 66,350,297 62,114,321 
Library collections 86,738,762 85,113,945 82,938,231 
Construction in progress   38,705,819   71,037,374   37,651,605 

 

Total 
 

 $ 1,189,738,014 
 

$  1,151,450,540 
 

 $1,066,474,932 
 
 

The University completed a significant project during fiscal year 2013, Sangren Hall, which houses 
the College of Education and Human Development. The Sangren Hall building replaces a 45-year old, most 
heavily used classroom building on campus. The new 231,000 square-foot building creates learning 
environments that meet and exceed the requirements for today’s academic teaching standards. This 
building was financed with bond proceeds and state capital appropriations. During fiscal year 2012, the 
University also received a donated building valued at $20.1 million. The 330,000 square-foot building is 
located on 3.3 acres in downtown Kalamazoo. 
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The most significant components of cash flows provided from operating activities are tuition and fees, 
auxiliary activities, and grants and contracts. Net cash used in operating activities was $85.2 million. This is 
compared to net cash used in operating activities in the amounts of $92.7 million and $96.4 million for the 
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totaled $47.7 million, primarily the result of capital additions during the year in the amount of $52.4 million 
and interest paid on capital debt in the amount of $14.4 million. Cash provided by investing activities 
was $0.5 million. This is compared to $1.2 million and $1.8 million for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 
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 $ 1,189,738,014 
 

$  1,151,450,540 
 

 $1,066,474,932 
 
 

The University completed a significant project during fiscal year 2013, Sangren Hall, which houses 
the College of Education and Human Development. The Sangren Hall building replaces a 45-year old, most 
heavily used classroom building on campus. The new 231,000 square-foot building creates learning 
environments that meet and exceed the requirements for today’s academic teaching standards. This 
building was financed with bond proceeds and state capital appropriations. During fiscal year 2012, the 
University also received a donated building valued at $20.1 million. The 330,000 square-foot building is 
located on 3.3 acres in downtown Kalamazoo. 
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Debt 
 

At June 30, 2013, the University had $289.9 million in bonded debt obligations outstanding versus 
$301.9 million the previous year, a decrease of 4.0 percent. At June 30, 2012, the bonded debt obligations 
had decreased 3.6 percent, from a balance of $313.2 million at June 30, 2011. The University issued $66.8 
million of general revenue and refunding bonds during fiscal year 2011 to advance refund prior bonds 
and pay costs for new construction projects. 

 
The University has partnered with Borgess Health and Bronson Healthcare to form the Western Michigan 
University School of Medicine (WMed). WMed is a private 501(c)(3) nonprofit corporation supported by 
private gifts, clinical revenue, research activity, tuition from students, and endowment income. WMed will 
welcome its first student class in fall 2014. 

 
The board of trustees of Western Michigan University received a significant donation of a building 
and land located at 300 Portage Street in downtown Kalamazoo.  The building is currently undergoing 
renovations estimated to cost $69.5 million with the intention of leasing most of the building to WMed. 

 
Under the terms of the lease agreement, WMed agrees to pay the University lease rental payments which 
at a minimum will be established in amounts sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the 
indebtedness for the renovation cost of the property. Under the terms of the lease agreement, WMed will 
be responsible for the maintenance, utilities, and other costs of the facility. 

 
During the 2013 fiscal year, the University obtained a line of credit to be used as bridge financing for project 
costs incurred to renovate the building. The balance due on this line at June 30, 2013 was $6.7 million. 
During fiscal year 2011, the University drew down and repaid a net amount of $11.5 million on a line of 
credit on a short-term basis to fund costs associated with the Sangren Hall and Western View Phase I 
projects. The line of credit was closed prior to June 30, 2011. The University had no balance due on a line 
of credit at June 30, 2012 or 2011. 

 
Other Information 

 
The board of trustees approved an affiliation agreement between the University and the Thomas M. Cooley 
Law School (Cooley). Cooley will remain an independent nonprofit corporation under the affiliation 
agreement but will be renamed the Western Michigan University Thomas M. Cooley Law School. The 
affiliation commences with the acquiescence of the American Bar Association and the Higher Learning 
Commission. Some of the collaborative opportunities that have been discussed between the University and 
Cooley include a “3+3 program” allowing students to complete their bachelor’s and law degrees in just six 
years; interdisciplinary teaching and research opportunities for faculty; and additional joint course 
offerings in areas that might focus on the legal environment for business, education, health care, or 
intellectual property. 
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Economic Factors That Will Affect the Future 
 

Acting in its July meeting, the Western Michigan University board of trustees adopted a $366.6 million 
General Fund operating budget for the 2013-2014 year, as well as a tuition and fees rate increase. 

 
The new budget reflects that the University’s state appropriation for the 2013-2014 year is expected to be 
$97.2 million. Tuition and fees for resident undergraduate students will increase 3.75 percent. Additional 
revenue from this rate increase, as well as enrollment changes, will result in a projected net revenue 
increase of $3.0 million for the 2013-2014 year. Budgeted expenses have increased for compensation, 
utilities, financial aid, debt service, and Extended University Programs program support. 

 
Western Michigan University’s tuition cost ranks ninth among the state’s 15 public universities, even 
though it is one of Michigan’s four largest, most complex, and highly regarded research institutions. 
The University continues to offer exceptional value to our students. 
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Statement of Net Position 
 
 

  June 30   
 2013 2012 
 
Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 

 
 

$ 35,576,324 
 

$ 33,500,449 
Short-term investments (Note 2) 1,269,555 4,491,121
Accounts receivable - Net (Note 3) 36,334,807 44,267,274
Inventories 2,546,549 5,539,388
Deposits, prepaid expenses, and other assets 3,665,966   1,918,114

Total current assets 79,393,201 89,716,346 

Long-term Investments (Note 2) 130,326,160 111,991,247 

Student Loans Receivable - Net (Note 3) 9,165,970 9,164,089 

Other Assets 109,251 331,062 

Capital Assets - Net (Note 4) 
 

Total assets 

  727,761,341 
 

946,755,923 

  707,716,151 
 

918,918,895 
 
Current Liabilities 

Line of credit (Note 6) 

 
 

6,655,558 
 

- 
Current portion of debt obligations (Note 5) 19,105,844 17,501,097
Accounts payable 21,295,341 20,250,606
Due to depositors 656,447 675,266
Accrued payroll and withholdings 22,992,946 20,454,701
Employee retirement - 69,433
Insurance and other claims payable (Note 7) 6,556,759 6,893,082
Tuition and fees received in advance 7,827,838 5,667,861
Other liabilities 12,166,786   12,017,924

Total current liabilities 97,257,519 83,529,970 

Long-term Obligations - Net of current portion (Note 5)   452,167,000   460,333,370 

Total liabilities   549,424,519   543,863,340 

Net Position 
Unrestricted 

 
(50,487,805) (49,203,342) 

Restricted for:  
Expendable 1,830,684 1,742,960
Loans 9,097,789 9,170,840
Other 7,432,430 7,078,257

Net investment in capital assets 429,458,306    406,266,840

Total net position $  397,331,404 $ 375,055,555 
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Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
 
 

  Year Ended June 30   
 2013 2012 

Operating Revenue  
Tuition and fees $ 271,531,489 $ 267,224,116
Scholarship allowance (48,327,233)   (47,355,132)

Net tuition and fees 223,204,256 219,868,984 

Governmental grants and contracts 17,078,725 19,820,698 
Other grants and contracts 7,194,368 8,303,959
Departmental and other educational activities 34,827,444 29,122,776

Auxiliary activities 104,813,905 106,146,371 
Scholarship allowance   (9,898,349)   (10,395,029) 

Net auxiliary activities 94,915,556 95,751,342 

Other revenue                7,834,443   8,458,983 

Total operating revenue 385,054,792 381,326,742 

Operating Expenses   
Instruction 158,902,393 155,919,544
Departmental research 19,502,342 23,042,963
Public service 11,164,667 11,258,070
Academic support 50,560,305 48,812,761
Student services 25,778,690 24,308,871
Institutional support 47,479,823 39,005,049
Operations and maintenance of plant 36,330,911 38,292,231
Scholarships and fellowships 33,650,567 34,835,627
Auxiliary activities 85,944,298 92,076,387
Depreciation 26,754,140 25,244,118
Other expenditures 14,861,513   3,253,424

Total operating expenses   510,929,649   496,049,045 

Operating Loss (125,874,857) (114,722,303) 

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)  
State appropriations 95,487,500 93,168,300
Gifts 43,396,890 14,895,849
Pell grant revenue 29,458,374 30,642,684
Other expense (32,680,370) (11,567,984)
Investment income and other interest 12,028,157 4,403,376
Interest on capital asset-related debt (14,307,708)   (14,762,976)

Net nonoperating revenue   133,382,843   116,779,249 

Income - Before other 7,507,986 2,056,946 

Other   
State capital appropriations 12,764,937 16,842,710 
Other revenue and capital gifts and grants 2,002,926   22,379,973

Total other   14,767,863   39,222,683 

Increase in Net Position 22,275,849 41,279,629 

Net Position 
Beginning of year 

 
  375,055,555 

 
  333,775,926 

End of year $  397,331,404 $  375,055,555 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 
 
 
 
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

  Year Ended June 30   
2013 2012 

Tuition and fees $ 274,196,655    $ 264,232,193 
Grants and contracts                                                                                                 24,616,964           30,224,678 
Payments to suppliers                                                                                            (218,869,856)       (226,304,192)  
Payments to employees                                                                                         (309,279,211)       (301,935,164)  
Loans issued to students                                                                                            (1,550,691)           (1,249,518)  
Collection of loans from students                                                                               1,551,899             1,716,400 
Student loan interest                                                                                                      117,918                118,967 
Auxiliary enterprise charges                                                                                    104,682,514         104,898,847 
Departmental and other                                                                                          39,319,485          35,563,092 

 

Net cash used in operating activities                                                                  (85,214,323)          (92,734,697) 

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 
Private gifts for annuity purposes                                                                                     38,036                579,857 
Gifts and contributions for other than capital purposes                                            43,395,689           14,894,538 
William D. Ford direct lending receipts                                                                  137,363,538         140,467,066 
William D. Ford direct lending disbursements                                                       (137,363,538)       (140,467,066)  
PLUS loan receipts                                                                                                    24,869,734           28,138,390 
PLUS loan disbursements                                                                                        (24,869,734)         (28,138,390)  
Pell grant revenue                                                                                                     29,451,722           30,642,684 
Agency transactions                                                                                                      (763,638)               788,276 
Other                                                                                                                       (32,680,370)           (8,024,449)  
State appropriations                                                                                                             95,065,826          96,158,625 

 

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 134,507,265          135,039,531 
 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 
Purchase of capital assets                                                                                         (52,378,917)         (59,358,519)  
Proceeds net of deposits from disposal of assets                                                           170,432                134,939 
Principal paid on capital debt                                                                                   (12,958,097)         (12,210,650)  
Capital grant, gift, and other proceeds                                                                       2,002,926             1,192,201 
Capital appropriations                                                                                               19,967,068             8,458,141 
Withdrawals from trustee to purchase capital assets                                                  3,162,516           30,258,495 
Drawdown from line of credit                                                                                    6,655,558                         -  
Interest paid on capital debt                                                                                           (14,367,155)        (14,936,710) 

 

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (47,745,669)         (46,462,103) 
 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments                                                     44,882,440           26,651,865 
Interest on investments                                                                                                         3,953,645             3,535,833 
Purchase of investments   (48,307,483)         (29,000,000)  

Net cash provided by investing activities    528,602     1,187,698 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,075,875             (2,969,571) 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year     33,500,449           36,470,020 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year 
 
$  35,576,324 

 
$   33,500,449 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 
 
 
 
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
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Capital grant, gift, and other proceeds                                                                       2,002,926             1,192,201 
Capital appropriations                                                                                               19,967,068             8,458,141 
Withdrawals from trustee to purchase capital assets                                                  3,162,516           30,258,495 
Drawdown from line of credit                                                                                    6,655,558                         -  
Interest paid on capital debt                                                                                           (14,367,155)        (14,936,710) 

 

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (47,745,669)         (46,462,103) 
 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments                                                     44,882,440           26,651,865 
Interest on investments                                                                                                         3,953,645             3,535,833 
Purchase of investments   (48,307,483)         (29,000,000)  

Net cash provided by investing activities    528,602     1,187,698 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,075,875             (2,969,571) 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year     33,500,449           36,470,020 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year 
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$   33,500,449 
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Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 
 
 
 
 
 

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash from Operating 
Activities 

  Year Ended June 30   
2013 2012 

Operating loss 
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net 
 cash from operating activities: 

$ (125,874,857) $  (114,722,303) 

Depreciation 26,754,140   25,244,118
Amortization of bond issuance costs 1,881,842    (395,628)
Disposal/Adjustments of fixed assets 184,031     (5,834,694)
Decrease (increase) in assets:   

Federal and state grants receivable 968,103    1,189,332
Accounts receivable - Net 1,636,690    (6,483,471)
Inventories 2,992,839   474,481
Prepaid assets and other current assets (1,526,041)   74,015
Loans to students 1,208   585,849

(Decrease) increase in liabilities:   
Accounts payable (228,214)   (59,051)
Accrued payroll and other compensation 821,444   1,521,660
Other liabilities 5,026,629   5,151,749
Unearned tuition and fees 2,147,863    519,246

Net cash used in operating activities  

 

$    (92,734,697)$    (85,214,323) 
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Discretely Presented Component 
Units Balance Sheet and Statement of 
Activities and Changes in Net Assets 

 

 

Balance Sheet 

Western Michigan University
Foundation 

June 30 

Western Michigan University
School of Medicine 

June 30 

Western Michigan University 
Research Foundation 

June 30 

Paper Technology
Foundation, Inc. 

June 30 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Assets     

 Cash and short-term investments 
Investments (Note 2) 
Pledges receivable - Net (Note 3)    
Cash surrender value of life insurance 

policies 
Other receivable    
Other assets   
Land, land contracts, and other 

property 
 
  Total assets                                    
   

$  20,861,818      
  247,419,859 

93,188,860 
 

1,286,310       
282,666     

- 
 

6,085,883   
 

$369,125,396 
              

                             

$  29,305,520      
  188,980,525 

89,878,463 
 

1,038,977      
376,705     

- 
 

5,689,863   
 

$315,270,053 
              

                             

$ 588,652      
  2,406,065 

672,400 
 

- 
1,283,400     

728,979 
 

5,844,353   
 

$ 11,523,849 
              

                             

$ -
  - 

- 
 

- 
- 
- 
 

- 
 

$ - 
              

                             

$ 2,532,890      
  4,356,502 

- 
 

- 
2,679,484     

- 
 

- 
 

$ 9,568,876 
              

                             

$  4,544,534      
  5,320,756 

- 
 

-  
1,117,317    

- 
 

328,275   
 

$ 11,310,882 
              

                             

$  378,877      
  5,599,031 

2,615 
 

- 
- 
- 
 

- 
 

$ 5,980,523 
              

                             

$ 293,974      
  5,158,387 

3,240 
 

- 
- 
- 
 

- 
 

$ 5,455,601 
              

                             
Liabilities     

 Accounts payable 
Outstanding checks in excess of cash 
Deposits held in escrow 
Debt 
Accrued payroll, withholdings, and 

other 
Deferred compensation 
   
  Total liabilities 

$  3,614      
  - 

100,000 
- 

        
-  
-  

 
  103,614 

              
                             

$  9,775      
  - 

100,000 
- 
 

- 
- 
 

  109,775 
              

                             

$ 1,211,910      
  364,228 

- 
94,185      

        
1,321,586     
2,406,065   

 
  5,397,974 

              
                             

$ -
  - 

- 
- 
  
- 
- 
 

  - 
              

                             

$ 42,779      
  - 

- 
- 

        
9,111     

- 
 

 51,890 
              

                             

$  294,442      
    

- 
- 

        
30,654     

- 
 

  325,096 
              

                             

$  455      
  - 

- 
- 

       
- 
- 
 

  455 
              

                             

$ 234      
  - 

- 
- 

       
- 
- 
 

  234 
              

                             
Net Assets     

 Unrestricted 
Temporary restricted 
Permanently restricted 
   
  Total net assets 
 
  Total liabilities and net assets 

   152,027,952      
  148,458,074 

68,535,756 
 
  369,021,782 
              
$369,125,396 

                 

   103,059,112      
  149,473,875 

62,627,291   
 

  315,160,278 
              
  $315,270,053 

  

5,191,606      
  770,262 

164,007   
 

  6,125,875 
              
 $ 11,523,849 

  

-
  - 

- 
 

  - 
              
$ - 

                    

9,516,986      
  - 

- 
 

  9,516,986 
              
$ 9,568,876 

  

   10,985,786      
  - 

- 
 

  10,985,786 
              
$ 11,310,882 

  

   1,526,628     
  2,671,916 

1,781,524   
 

  5,980,068 
              
$ 5,980,523 

                                     

1,342,344     
  2,346,478 

1,766,545   
 

  5,455,367 
              
$ 5,455,601 

                                    

 Statement of Activities and  
Changes in Net Assets 

 
Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenue Gains, Losses, and Other Support     

 Gifts, contributions, and other 
Investment income 
Contracted services and support 
Patient service revenue 
Governmental grants and contracts 
Other income 
Net gain (loss) from security and other 

investment transactions 
Net transfers from Western Michigan 

University Research Foundation 
Net transfers from Western Michigan 

University 
   
  Total revenue gains, losses, 

    and support 
 

$  38,499,788   
  6,604,964 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
21,965,980 

 
  781,638 

 
41,277,101 

 
 
  109,129,471 
                             

$  14,374,197  
  5,528,254 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
(8,211,800) 

 
  - 

 
20,718,467 

 
 
  32,409,118 

                             

$ 3,809,151
  - 

33,993,726 
  9,629,638 

2,499,325 
- 

    
- 
 

  - 
 

716,520 
 
 
  50,648,360 

                             

$ -
  - 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
- 
 

  - 
 

- 
 
 
  - 

                             

$ -
  74,404 

- 
  - 

- 
211,082 

    
- 
 

  - 
 

137,166 
 
 
  422,652 

                             

$  - 
  132,641 

- 
  - 

1,900,000 
166,271 

    
56,977 

 
  - 

 
11,910,700 

 
 
  14,166,589 

                              

$  163,666
   152,843 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
545,127 

 
  - 

 
132,958 

 
 
  994,594 

                             

$ 164,270   
  152,466 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
(223,592) 

 
  - 

 
6,438 

 
 
  99,582 

                             
Expenditures and Distributions     

  Program services 
Management and general 
Fundraising 
  
  Total expenditures 

   169,081      
  206,325 

3,889,839 
 
  4,265,245 
      

   39,146     
  287,148 

4,299,783   
 

  4,626,077 
  

43,842,329     
  6,776,329 

- 
 

  50,618,658 
  

-
                   - 

- 
 

  - 
 

  -
  1,019,814 

- 
 

  1,109,814 
  

   1,929,478      
  1,278,906 

- 
 

  3,208,384 
          

   71,484     
  71,120 

137,985   
 

  280,589 
 

76,443     
  74,311 

168,856   
 

  319,610 
 

 Distributions  51,002,722 
     

 22,445,191
     

-
     

-
     

781,638
     

 - 
     

 189,304
     

183,955
     

   Total expenditures and 
    distributions 

  
 55,267,967 
     

 
 27,071,268 
     

 50,618,658 
     

 - 
     

 1,891,452 
     

  
 3,208,384 
     

 
 469,893 
     

 503,565 
     

Change in Net Assets   53,861,504 
 

  5,337,850
 

29,702
 

-
 

(1,468,800)
 

  10,958,205 
 

  524,701
 

(403,983)
 

Net Assets — Beginning of year   315,160,278 
 

  309,822,428
 

6,096,173
 

-
 

10,985,786
 

  27,581 
 

  5,455,367
 

5,859,350
 

Net Assets — End of year $369,021,782 
     

$ 315,160,278
     

$ 6,125,875
     

$ -
     

$ 9,516,986
     

$ 10,985,786 
     

$ 5,980,068
     

$ 5,455,367
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Discretely Presented Component 
Units Balance Sheet and Statement of 
Activities and Changes in Net Assets 

 

 

Balance Sheet 

Western Michigan University
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Western Michigan University 
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- 
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1,117,317    
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$ 5,980,523 
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- 
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other 
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- 
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- 
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$ 42,779      
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- 
 

 51,890 
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30,654     
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  325,096 
              

                             

$  455      
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- 
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  234 
              

                             
Net Assets     

 Unrestricted 
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Permanently restricted 
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  Total liabilities and net assets 
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  148,458,074 

68,535,756 
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  315,160,278 
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 $ 11,523,849 

  

-
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  - 
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$ 9,568,876 
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 Statement of Activities and  
Changes in Net Assets 

 
Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenue Gains, Losses, and Other Support     

 Gifts, contributions, and other 
Investment income 
Contracted services and support 
Patient service revenue 
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Net gain (loss) from security and other 

investment transactions 
Net transfers from Western Michigan 

University Research Foundation 
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  Total revenue gains, losses, 

    and support 
 

$  38,499,788   
  6,604,964 
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  - 

- 
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21,965,980 

 
  781,638 

 
41,277,101 

 
 
  109,129,471 
                             

$  14,374,197  
  5,528,254 

- 
  - 

- 
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(8,211,800) 

 
  - 

 
20,718,467 

 
 
  32,409,118 

                             

$ 3,809,151
  - 

33,993,726 
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2,499,325 
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  - 
 

716,520 
 
 
  50,648,360 

                             

$ -
  - 

- 
  - 

- 
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  - 
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  - 
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  74,404 
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211,082 
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137,166 
 
 
  422,652 
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  132,641 
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1,900,000 
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11,910,700 
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   152,843 
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132,958 

 
 
  994,594 

                             

$ 164,270   
  152,466 

- 
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- 
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(223,592) 
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6,438 

 
 
  99,582 

                             
Expenditures and Distributions     

  Program services 
Management and general 
Fundraising 
  
  Total expenditures 

   169,081      
  206,325 

3,889,839 
 
  4,265,245 
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  287,148 

4,299,783   
 

  4,626,077 
  

43,842,329     
  6,776,329 
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  50,618,658 
  

-
                   - 

- 
 

  - 
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  1,019,814 

- 
 

  1,109,814 
  

   1,929,478      
  1,278,906 

- 
 

  3,208,384 
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  71,120 

137,985   
 

  280,589 
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  74,311 

168,856   
 

  319,610 
 

 Distributions  51,002,722 
     

 22,445,191
     

-
     

-
     

781,638
     

 - 
     

 189,304
     

183,955
     

   Total expenditures and 
    distributions 

  
 55,267,967 
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 - 
     

 1,891,452 
     

  
 3,208,384 
     

 
 469,893 
     

 503,565 
     

Change in Net Assets   53,861,504 
 

  5,337,850
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(1,468,800)
 

  10,958,205 
 

  524,701
 

(403,983)
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10,985,786
 

  27,581 
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Net Assets — End of year $369,021,782 
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Activities and Changes in Net Assets 

 

 

Balance Sheet 

Western Michigan University
Foundation 

June 30 

Western Michigan University
School of Medicine 

June 30 

Western Michigan University 
Research Foundation 

June 30 

Paper Technology
Foundation, Inc. 

June 30 
 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Assets     

 Cash and short-term investments 
Investments (Note 2) 
Pledges receivable - Net (Note 3)    
Cash surrender value of life insurance 

policies 
Other receivable    
Other assets   
Land, land contracts, and other 

property 
 
  Total assets                                    
   

$  20,861,818      
  247,419,859 

93,188,860 
 

1,286,310       
282,666     

- 
 

6,085,883   
 

$369,125,396 
              

                             

$  29,305,520      
  188,980,525 

89,878,463 
 

1,038,977      
376,705     

- 
 

5,689,863   
 

$315,270,053 
              

                             

$ 588,652      
  2,406,065 

672,400 
 

- 
1,283,400     

728,979 
 

5,844,353   
 

$ 11,523,849 
              

                             

$ -
  - 

- 
 

- 
- 
- 
 

- 
 

$ - 
              

                             

$ 2,532,890      
  4,356,502 

- 
 

- 
2,679,484     

- 
 

- 
 

$ 9,568,876 
              

                             

$  4,544,534      
  5,320,756 

- 
 

-  
1,117,317    

- 
 

328,275   
 

$ 11,310,882 
              

                             

$  378,877      
  5,599,031 

2,615 
 

- 
- 
- 
 

- 
 

$ 5,980,523 
              

                             

$ 293,974      
  5,158,387 

3,240 
 

- 
- 
- 
 

- 
 

$ 5,455,601 
              

                             
Liabilities     

 Accounts payable 
Outstanding checks in excess of cash 
Deposits held in escrow 
Debt 
Accrued payroll, withholdings, and 

other 
Deferred compensation 
   
  Total liabilities 

$  3,614      
  - 

100,000 
- 

        
-  
-  

 
  103,614 

              
                             

$  9,775      
  - 

100,000 
- 
 

- 
- 
 

  109,775 
              

                             

$ 1,211,910      
  364,228 

- 
94,185      

        
1,321,586     
2,406,065   

 
  5,397,974 

              
                             

$ -
  - 

- 
- 
  
- 
- 
 

  - 
              

                             

$ 42,779      
  - 

- 
- 

        
9,111     

- 
 

 51,890 
              

                             

$  294,442      
    

- 
- 

        
30,654     

- 
 

  325,096 
              

                             

$  455      
  - 

- 
- 

       
- 
- 
 

  455 
              

                             

$ 234      
  - 

- 
- 

       
- 
- 
 

  234 
              

                             
Net Assets     

 Unrestricted 
Temporary restricted 
Permanently restricted 
   
  Total net assets 
 
  Total liabilities and net assets 

   152,027,952      
  148,458,074 

68,535,756 
 
  369,021,782 
              
$369,125,396 

                 

   103,059,112      
  149,473,875 

62,627,291   
 

  315,160,278 
              
  $315,270,053 

  

5,191,606      
  770,262 

164,007   
 

  6,125,875 
              
 $ 11,523,849 

  

-
  - 

- 
 

  - 
              
$ - 

                    

9,516,986      
  - 

- 
 

  9,516,986 
              
$ 9,568,876 

  

   10,985,786      
  - 

- 
 

  10,985,786 
              
$ 11,310,882 

  

   1,526,628     
  2,671,916 

1,781,524   
 

  5,980,068 
              
$ 5,980,523 

                                     

1,342,344     
  2,346,478 

1,766,545   
 

  5,455,367 
              
$ 5,455,601 

                                    

 Statement of Activities and  
Changes in Net Assets 

 
Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenue Gains, Losses, and Other Support     

 Gifts, contributions, and other 
Investment income 
Contracted services and support 
Patient service revenue 
Governmental grants and contracts 
Other income 
Net gain (loss) from security and other 

investment transactions 
Net transfers from Western Michigan 

University Research Foundation 
Net transfers from Western Michigan 

University 
   
  Total revenue gains, losses, 

    and support 
 

$  38,499,788   
  6,604,964 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
21,965,980 

 
  781,638 

 
41,277,101 

 
 
  109,129,471 
                             

$  14,374,197  
  5,528,254 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
(8,211,800) 

 
  - 

 
20,718,467 

 
 
  32,409,118 

                             

$ 3,809,151
  - 

33,993,726 
  9,629,638 

2,499,325 
- 

    
- 
 

  - 
 

716,520 
 
 
  50,648,360 

                             

$ -
  - 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
- 
 

  - 
 

- 
 
 
  - 

                             

$ -
  74,404 

- 
  - 

- 
211,082 

    
- 
 

  - 
 

137,166 
 
 
  422,652 

                             

$  - 
  132,641 

- 
  - 

1,900,000 
166,271 

    
56,977 

 
  - 

 
11,910,700 

 
 
  14,166,589 

                              

$  163,666
   152,843 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
545,127 

 
  - 

 
132,958 

 
 
  994,594 

                             

$ 164,270   
  152,466 

- 
  - 

- 
- 

    
(223,592) 

 
  - 

 
6,438 

 
 
  99,582 

                             
Expenditures and Distributions     

  Program services 
Management and general 
Fundraising 
  
  Total expenditures 

   169,081      
  206,325 

3,889,839 
 
  4,265,245 
      

   39,146     
  287,148 

4,299,783   
 

  4,626,077 
  

43,842,329     
  6,776,329 

- 
 

  50,618,658 
  

-
                   - 

- 
 

  - 
 

  -
  1,019,814 

- 
 

  1,109,814 
  

   1,929,478      
  1,278,906 

- 
 

  3,208,384 
          

   71,484     
  71,120 

137,985   
 

  280,589 
 

76,443     
  74,311 

168,856   
 

  319,610 
 

 Distributions  51,002,722 
     

 22,445,191
     

-
     

-
     

781,638
     

 - 
     

 189,304
     

183,955
     

   Total expenditures and 
    distributions 

  
 55,267,967 
     

 
 27,071,268 
     

 50,618,658 
     

 - 
     

 1,891,452 
     

  
 3,208,384 
     

 
 469,893 
     

 503,565 
     

Change in Net Assets   53,861,504 
 

  5,337,850
 

29,702
 

-
 

(1,468,800)
 

  10,958,205 
 

  524,701
 

(403,983)
 

Net Assets — Beginning of year   315,160,278 
 

  309,822,428
 

6,096,173
 

-
 

10,985,786
 

  27,581 
 

  5,455,367
 

5,859,350
 

Net Assets — End of year $369,021,782 
     

$ 315,160,278
     

$ 6,125,875
     

$ -
     

$ 9,516,986
     

$ 10,985,786 
     

$ 5,980,068
     

$ 5,455,367
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 
 
 

Basis of Presentation 
 

The financial statements of Western Michigan University (the “University”) have been prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The University follows the “business- type” activities reporting 
requirements of GASB Statement No. 34. 

 
The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis, whereby all 
revenue is recorded when earned and all expenses are recorded when they have been reduced to a 
legal or contractual obligation to pay. 

 
GASB Statement No. 34 establishes standards for external financial reporting for public colleges and 
universities and requires that resources be classified for accounting and reporting purposes into the 
following categories: 

 
•  Net investment in Capital Assets - Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and 

outstanding principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets 

 
•  Restricted - Net assets subject to externally imposed constraints that they may be 

maintained permanently by the University, or net assets whose use by the University is subject to 
externally imposed constraints that can be fulfilled by actions of the University pursuant to those 
constraints or that expire by the passage of time. 

 
•  Unrestricted - Net assets that are not subject to externally imposed constraints. 

Unrestricted net assets may be designated for specific purposes by action of management or 
the board of trustees (the “Board”) or may otherwise be limited by contractual agreements 
with outside parties. 

 
Effective July 1, 2012, the University implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 63, 
Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net 
Position, and GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. These 
statements introduce and define those elements as a consumption of net assets by the University 
that is applicable to a future reporting period and an acquisition of net asset by the University that is 
applicable to a future reporting period, respectively. The standards also incorporate deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, as defined by GASB Concepts Statement 
No. 4, into the definitions of the required components of the residual measure of net position, 
formerly net assets. This statement also provided a new statement of net position format to report all 
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position. As 
a result of adopting GASB No.65, the University expensed approximately $2 million of previously 
capitalized bond issuance costs. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 
 
 

Basis of Presentation 
 

The financial statements of Western Michigan University (the “University”) have been prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The University follows the “business- type” activities reporting 
requirements of GASB Statement No. 34. 

 
The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis, whereby all 
revenue is recorded when earned and all expenses are recorded when they have been reduced to a 
legal or contractual obligation to pay. 

 
GASB Statement No. 34 establishes standards for external financial reporting for public colleges and 
universities and requires that resources be classified for accounting and reporting purposes into the 
following categories: 

 
•  Net investment in Capital Assets - Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and 

outstanding principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets 

 
•  Restricted - Net assets subject to externally imposed constraints that they may be 

maintained permanently by the University, or net assets whose use by the University is subject to 
externally imposed constraints that can be fulfilled by actions of the University pursuant to those 
constraints or that expire by the passage of time. 

 
•  Unrestricted - Net assets that are not subject to externally imposed constraints. 

Unrestricted net assets may be designated for specific purposes by action of management or 
the board of trustees (the “Board”) or may otherwise be limited by contractual agreements 
with outside parties. 

 
Effective July 1, 2012, the University implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 63, 
Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net 
Position, and GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. These 
statements introduce and define those elements as a consumption of net assets by the University 
that is applicable to a future reporting period and an acquisition of net asset by the University that is 
applicable to a future reporting period, respectively. The standards also incorporate deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, as defined by GASB Concepts Statement 
No. 4, into the definitions of the required components of the residual measure of net position, 
formerly net assets. This statement also provided a new statement of net position format to report all 
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position. As 
a result of adopting GASB No.65, the University expensed approximately $2 million of previously 
capitalized bond issuance costs. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued) 

 
Effective July 1, 2012, the University also implemented the provisions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus. Statement No. 61 is an 
amendment to Statement No. 14 and Statement No. 34, modifying certain requirements for inclusion 
of component units in the financial reporting entity. This statement also amends the criteria for 
reporting component units as if they were part of the primary government (that is, blending) in 
certain circumstances. 

 
These statements have also been prepared in accordance with criteria established by the GASB for 
determining the various governmental organizations to be included in the reporting entity (GASB 
Statement No. 61). These criteria include significant operational or financial relationships with the 
University. Based on application of the criteria, the University has four component units. The 
adoption of GASB No. 61 did not have any impact on the University’s financial statements. 

 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Component Unit - Western Michigan University is an institution of higher education located in 
Kalamazoo, Michigan, and is considered to be a component unit of the State of Michigan (the 
“State”) because its board of trustees is appointed by the governor of the State of Michigan. 
Accordingly, the University is included in the State’s financial statements as a discrete component 
unit. Transactions with the State of Michigan relate primarily to appropriations for operations, 
grants from various state agencies, and payments to state retirement programs for the benefit of 
University employees. 

 
Component Units of the University - Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper Technology 
Foundation, Inc., Western Michigan University Research Foundation, and Western Michigan 
University School of Medicine (WMed) statements are discretely presented as part of the 
University’s reporting entity. These financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
and have not been modified for GASB.  The officers of Western Michigan University Foundation and 
Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. include certain University administrative officials, but the 
University does not have controlling interest in those foundations’ boards. The University does have 
controlling interest in Western Michigan University Research Foundation and WMed. The Internal 
Revenue Service has determined that the component units are tax-exempt under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

 
Western Michigan University Foundation operates exclusively for the benefit of Western Michigan 
University. The foundation provides support for the objectives, goals, and mission of the University. 
The foundation assists in accomplishing the educational purposes of the University. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued) 

 
Effective July 1, 2012, the University also implemented the provisions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus. Statement No. 61 is an 
amendment to Statement No. 14 and Statement No. 34, modifying certain requirements for inclusion 
of component units in the financial reporting entity. This statement also amends the criteria for 
reporting component units as if they were part of the primary government (that is, blending) in 
certain circumstances. 

 
These statements have also been prepared in accordance with criteria established by the GASB for 
determining the various governmental organizations to be included in the reporting entity (GASB 
Statement No. 61). These criteria include significant operational or financial relationships with the 
University. Based on application of the criteria, the University has four component units. The 
adoption of GASB No. 61 did not have any impact on the University’s financial statements. 

 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Component Unit - Western Michigan University is an institution of higher education located in 
Kalamazoo, Michigan, and is considered to be a component unit of the State of Michigan (the 
“State”) because its board of trustees is appointed by the governor of the State of Michigan. 
Accordingly, the University is included in the State’s financial statements as a discrete component 
unit. Transactions with the State of Michigan relate primarily to appropriations for operations, 
grants from various state agencies, and payments to state retirement programs for the benefit of 
University employees. 

 
Component Units of the University - Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper Technology 
Foundation, Inc., Western Michigan University Research Foundation, and Western Michigan 
University School of Medicine (WMed) statements are discretely presented as part of the 
University’s reporting entity. These financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
and have not been modified for GASB.  The officers of Western Michigan University Foundation and 
Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. include certain University administrative officials, but the 
University does not have controlling interest in those foundations’ boards. The University does have 
controlling interest in Western Michigan University Research Foundation and WMed. The Internal 
Revenue Service has determined that the component units are tax-exempt under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

 
Western Michigan University Foundation operates exclusively for the benefit of Western Michigan 
University. The foundation provides support for the objectives, goals, and mission of the University. 
The foundation assists in accomplishing the educational purposes of the University. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued) 

 
Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. was established to aid and promote, by financial assistance and 
guidance, education and research in paper technology and related areas at Western Michigan 
University. The University has paid certain expenses of Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. 

 
Western Michigan University Research Foundation operates for the benefit of Western Michigan 
University to promote, encourage, and aid scientific investigation and research as well as 
commercialization endeavors. The University has paid certain expenses of Western Michigan 
University Research Foundation. The foundation included financial activity for the Western Michigan 
University School of Medicine (WMed) as of June 30, 2012. Effective July 1, 2012, WMed merged 
with another existing entity, and the financial activities of WMed are no longer included with 
Western Michigan University Research Foundation. 

 
WMed operates and manages medical education and training programs. WMed’s clinics provide 
medical services to patients, a substantial portion of which are Medicaid and Medicare recipients. 

 
A complete copy of the audited financial statements of Western Michigan University Foundation, 
Paper Technology Foundation, Inc., Western Michigan University Research Foundation, and WMed 
is available at the organization’s offices. 

 
Cash and Investments - Cash and cash equivalents are defined as highly liquid investments with a 
maturity of three months or less when purchased. The University’s cash, comprised of working 
capital and permanent-core assets, is principally invested in investment-grade securities that are 
readily convertible to cash. The cash is allocated to securities that meet short-, intermediate-, 
and long-term investment objectives. Investments are reported at fair value, based on quoted market 
prices, with changes in fair value reported as investment income in the statement of revenue, 
expenses, and changes in net position. 

 
Inventories - Inventories consist primarily of supplies, food, pharmaceuticals, and bookstore items, 
and are stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined by the retail method. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued) 

 
Operating and Nonoperating Revenue - Operating activities as reported on the statement of 
revenue, expenses, and changes in net position are those activities that generally result from 
exchange transactions, such as payments received for providing services and payments made for 
services or goods received. Nearly all of the University’s expenses are from exchange transactions. 
Certain significant revenue streams relied upon for operations are recorded as nonoperating 
revenue, as defined by GASB Statement No. 34, including state appropriations, federal Pell grant 
revenue, gifts, and investment income. Restricted and unrestricted resources are spent and tracked 
at the discretion of the recipient University department within the guidelines of donor restrictions, if 
any. 

 
Capital Assets - Capital assets are stated at cost if purchased or at appraised value at the date of 
the gift for donated property. Certain net assets have been designated to provide for significant repair 
and maintenance costs to residence facilities. Physical properties, with the exception of land, are 
depreciated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful service lives of the respective 
assets. Estimated service lives are as follows: 

 
Land improvements                                                                                                    20 years  
Buildings                                                                                                                     50 years  
Equipment and software                                                                                         3-15 years  
Library holdings                                                                                                          10 years 

 
 

Bond Issuance Costs - Bond issuance costs are expensed in the period incurred while prepaid 
insurance costs related to bond issuance are amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-
line method. Gains and losses resulting from refunding bonds are booked as deferred outflows and 
inflows and recognized as a component of interest expense over the shorter of the remaining term of 
the old debt or the term of the new debt. 

 

 
Note 2 - Cash and Investments 

 
The University uses the “pooled cash” method of accounting for substantially all of its cash and 
investments. In order to maximize earnings, the cash and certain investments of Western Michigan 
University Foundation, Western Michigan University Research Foundation, and Paper Technology 
Foundation, Inc. are pooled with those of the University. External investment managers are provided 
with an investment policy statement, as set forth by the board of trustees. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 

As of June 30, 2013, the University had the following investments and maturities: 
 

Fair Less Than More Than 
Market Value One Year      1-5 years    6-10 years                10 Years   

 
Money market funds $  36,845,879 $  36,845,879   $ - $ - $ - 
Intermediate-term mutual funds 60,278,621 - 50,199,024 10,079,597 - 
Equity index mutual funds 4,444,686 - - - 4,444,686
Equity funds 29,934,792 - - - 29,934,792
Bond funds 13,190,180 - 10,621,302 2,568,878 -
Land and land contracts             93,500 - - -                    93,500
Bank loans         10,947,180 - - - 10,947,180
Real Estate Investment Trust Fund     11,437,201 -  -  -        11,437,201

Total $   167,172,039 $  36,845,879     $  60,820,326     $  12,648,475     $  56,857,359 

  

 
As of June 30, 2012, the University had the following investments and maturities: 

 
Fair Less Than More Than 

Market Value One Year       1-5 years    6-10 years                   10 Years   

 
Money market funds $  37,991,570 $  37,991,570     $ - $ - $ - 
Intermediate-term mutual funds 56,618,630 - 33,637,993 22,980,637   - 
Equity index mutual funds 4,179,768 - - -  4,179,768
Equity funds 48,237,751 - - -  48,237,751
Bond funds 2,461,524 - - 2,461,524  -
Land and land contracts 93,500 - - -  93,500
Real Estate Investment Trust Fund  400,074 -  -  -        400,074

Total $  149,982,817 $  37,991,570        $   33,637,993        $   25,442,161        $  52,911,093 

 
Interest Rate Risk - As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising 
interest rates, the University’s operating investment policy provides for a diversified portfolio 
comprised of short-, intermediate-, and long-term investments. The investment policy does not 
specifically limit or restrict asset allocation except for the long-term investment pool. The asset 
allocation, as a percentage of the total market value of the long- term investment pool, is targeted as 
follows: 

 
         Asset Category                                                                                            Target                 Range         

 

U.S. equities 28.6% 20%-40% 
International equities 28.6% 20%-40% 
Fixed income 28.6% 20%-40% 
Real estate (REITs) 14.2% 10%-20% 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 

The University is also exposed to risk indirectly since its mutual fund investees hold investments 
such as futures, options, and collateralized mortgage obligations (generally referred to as 
“derivatives”). 

 
The annuity and life income funds are invested on the policy that they are held to maturity; therefore, 
the interest rate risk is not considered in its decisions. Effective July 25, 2012, the board of 
trustees approved a revised investment policy to create a permanent core asset allocation 
committed to both equity and fixed-income securities. 

 
Credit Risk - For investments in nonmutual and nonpooled funds, no more than 10 percent of 
the portfolio, at cost, can be invested in any single issue, except the investments in U.S. government 
securities. The weighted average credit quality is to be no less than “AAA” (or its equivalent 
rating by two national rating agencies) for the short-term investment pool accounts and “A” for the 
intermediate-term investment pool accounts. 

 
In addition, the minimum acceptable credit quality at the time of purchase for individual 
securities shall be “A” for the short-term pool accounts and “BBB” for the intermediate- term 
investment pool accounts. 

 
At June 30, 2013 and 2012, the University’s debt instruments (subject to fluctuations in interest 
rates) and related ratings consisted of the following: 

 

 2013 2012 
 

   Market Value   
NRSRO     
Rating    Market Value

NRSRO
Rating

Bond mutual funds:  
Western Asset Intermediate Bond Portfolio
PIMCO Moderate Duration Fund 
Barclays TIPs Bond Fund 
SSGA Bond Market Fund 
SSGA High Yield Bond Fund 
Vanguard Total Bond Fund 
TIPs Bond Fund 
JPMorgan Short Duration Bond Fund 
FPA New Income Fund 
Vanguard Short-Term Bond EFT 
Templeton Global Bond Fund 

 
Total 

$ 10,783,601
  16,176,980 
  10,079,597 
  291,012 
  72,779 
  1,834,047 
  371,040 
  6,036,319 
  11,149,768 
  6,052,356 
  10,621,302 
 
 $ 73,468,801 

AA
AA- 
AAA 
AA2 

B 
AA 

AAA 
AAA 
AA 

AAA 
BBB 

 $ 10,639,712 
  6,405,234 
  22,980,637 
  285,467 
  70,986 
  1,735,295 
  369,776 
  6,014,765 
  4,549,419 
  6,028,863 
  - 
 
 $ 59,080,154 

BBB+
A+ 

AAA 
AA 
B+ 

AA+ 
AAA 
AAA 
AA+ 
AAA 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 

At June 30, 2013 and 2012, Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper Technology 
Foundation, Inc., and Western Michigan University Research Foundation’s debt instruments (subject 
to fluctuations in interest rates) and related ratings consisted of the following: 

 
Western Michigan University 

Foundation 

Paper Technology 

Foundation, Inc. 

Western Michigan University 

Research Foundation 
 

  2013       2012     2013       2012     2013       2012   
 

Intermediate-term mutual funds  15,048,532  19,626,903    A+  267,861  196,738    A+  1,850,884  3,047,966    A+ 

 
The nationally recognized statistical rating organization (NRSRO) utilized was primarily Moody’s 
Investors Services. The corporate bonds NRSRO rating is based on a weighted average of the 
individual investment ratings. 

 
Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the bank or 
counterparty, the University will not be able to recover the value of its deposits or investments 
that are in the possession of an outside party. The University’s cash investment policy does not limit 
the value of deposits or investments that may be held by an outside party. Investments in external 
investment pools and in open-ended mutual funds are not exposed to custodial credit risk because 
their existence is not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form. At June 30, 
2013 and 2012, the carrying amount of the University’s deposits was $20,047,202 and $31,021,642, 
respectively. These amounts include Foundation balances of $1,799,799 and $4,754,456, respectively. 
Of that amount, $1,064,212 and $1,121,501 was insured as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
The remaining $18,982,990 and $29,900,141 at June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, was uninsured 
and uncollateralized. The University does not require deposits to be insured or collateralized. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the 
magnitude of investment in a single issuer. The University’s cash investment policy provides that 
investment pool direct placements are to be sufficiently diversified and provides that no more than 
10 percent of its assets can be in any particular issue. The foregoing restrictions do not apply to 
securities that are issued or fully guaranteed by the United States government. The University did not 
have investments in any single issuer that equaled 5 percent or more in 2013 or 2012. 
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Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 

Foreign Currency Risk - Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will 
adversely affect the fair value of an investment. At June 30, 2013 and 2012, the University had 
approximately $43,800,000 and $10,500,000, respectively, invested in mutual funds that have funds 
invested in various countries throughout the world and therefore, expose the University to foreign 
currency risk indirectly. The University did not have any direct investments or deposits denominated 
in foreign currencies at June 30, 2013 and 2012. These amounts include Foundation balances of 
$3,300,000 and $1,400,000, respectively. 

 
Investments at Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper Technology Foundation, Inc., and 
Western Michigan University Research Foundation are as follows: 

 
Western Michigan University Paper Technology Western Michigan University 

  Foundation    Foundation, Inc.    Research Foundation   

  2013    2012    2013    2012    2013    2012   
 

Corporate stocks $ 955,225 $ 1,590,828 $ 24,152 $ 23,505  $ - $  - 
Alternative investments 96,841,716 77,192,070  2,339,618 2,107,025  5,917,123 5,320,756 
Real estate 
Mutual funds: 

8,722,915 8,097,823 37,762 221,037  -  - 

Equity 110,162,562 86,656,289 2,789,199 2,385,276  -   - 
Fixed income    30,737,441   15,443,515   408,300   421,544    -                -  

 

Total $ 247,419,859 $ 188,980,525 $  5,599,031 $ 5,158,387   

$   5,917,123        $   5,320,756   

 
Net gains (losses) from security transactions for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 are as 
follows for each foundation: 

 
Western Michigan 

  University Foundation   
Paper Technology 

  Foundation, Inc.   
 
 

Unrealized appreciation 
2013 2012 2013 2012 

(depreciation) $ 12,405,479   $ (10,157,459) $ 300,129    $ (274,204) 
Realized gains   9,560,501     1,945,659    244,998     50,612 

 
Total 

 
$ 21,965,980   $ 

 
(8,211,800) $ 

 
545,127    $ 

 
(223,592) 
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Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 

Trustee and brokerage fees associated with the maintenance of the endowment securities portfolio 
were $2,554,691 and $2,303,280 and $69,812 and $68,057 for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively, for Western Michigan University Foundation and Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. 
For recording purposes, these fees have been netted with investment income. Western Michigan 
University Foundation and Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. investments are stated at fair value 
based upon quoted market prices or are based on information provided by the fund managers or 
the general partners of the investment funds. 

 
Note 3 - Receivables 

 
As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, accounts receivable consisted of the following: 

 
2013 2012 

 

 
Appropriations from the State of Michigan for operations 

 
$   17,361,368 

 
$   16,939,694 

Sponsored research grants receivable 2,412,300  3,380,403 
Student accounts receivable 11,354,302  11,530,237
Capital appropriations from the State of Michigan 1,180,378  8,395,069
Other 8,479,565     7,526,916

Total 40,787,913  47,772,319 

Less allowances for doubtful accounts    (4,453,106)     (3,505,045) 
 

Net accounts receivable $   36,334,807  $   44,267,274 
 
 
 

As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, student loans receivable consisted of the following: 
 

2013 2012 
 

 
Student loans receivable  $    9,227,734 

  
 $    9,228,942 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts   (61,764)    (64,853) 
 

Net student loans receivable $   9,165,970  $   9,164,089 
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Note 3 - Receivables (Continued) 
 

As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, pledges receivable at the component units consisted of the following: 
 
 
 

 

 
Western Michigan University 

Foundation 
Paper Technology 
Foundation, Inc.  

Western Michigan University 
Research Foundation 

Western Michigan University 
School of Medicine 

 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
      

 Pledges expected to be collected  
within 1 year 

Pledges expected to be collected  
in 1-5 years 

 
  Total assets                                    
   

 
$  28,963,979      
   

64,829,534 
 

$ 93,766,513 
              

                             

 
$  25,776,402      
   

65,395,636 
 

$ 91,172,038 
              

                             

$  650      
   

2,100 
 

$ 2,750 
              

                             

$  688 
    

2,750 
 

$ 3,438 
              

                             

$  - 
  

- 
 

$ - 
              

                             

 
$  - 
  

- 
 

$ - 
             

                             

 
$  22,400      
   

650,000 
 

$ 672,400 
              

                             

$  - 
  

- 
 

$ - 
              

                             
Less:  

Allowable for uncollectible 
contributions 

Present value discount 
 
  Net pledges receivable               
   

 
 
$  (421,149)      
  (156,504) 

 
$ 93,188,860 

              
                             

 
 
$  (438,703)      
  (854,872) 

 
$ 89,878,463 

              
                             

 
$  (124)      
  (11) 

 
$ 2,615 

              
                             

 
$  (155)
  (43) 

 
$ 3,240 

              
                             

 
$  - 
  - 

 
$ - 

              
                             

 
 
$  - 
  - 

 
$ - 

              
                             

 
 
$  - 
  - 

 
$ 672,400 

              
                             

 
$  - 
  - 

 
$ - 

              
                             

 
Pledges receivable are presented net of a discount for the value of future cash flows and an 
allowance for uncollectible contributions. The discount to present value was calculated using 
the yield on a three-year Treasury bill, equal to .14 and .39 percent as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. The allowance for uncollectible contributions is a general valuation allowance of 4.5 
percent established based on historical contribution collection history. Estate gifts receivable at 
Western Michigan University Foundation of approximately $4,408,000 and $1,423,100 at June 30, 2013 
and 2012, respectively, included in the total pledges receivable, have no allowance for 
uncollectible contributions. Pledges deemed uncollectible are charged against the allowance for 
uncollectible contributions in the period in which the determination is made. 
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Note 4 - Capital Assets 
 

The following table presents the changes in the various fixed asset class categories for the year 
ended June 30, 2013: 

 
 

 
  2013   

Beginning 
Balance Additions Deletions Ending Balance 

 

Capital assets: 
Land 

 
$   16,601,768    $ 

 
170,633    $ 

 
- $   16,772,401 

Construction in progress   71,037,373      52,911,075     85,242,629     38,705,819 
 

Total nondepreciable property 87,639,141 53,081,708 85,242,629 55,478,220 

Land improvements 63,107,586 6,637,762 - 69,745,348 
Buildings 838,660,997 68,686,653 7,128,430 900,219,220 
Buildings under capitalized lease 10,578,574 - - 10,578,574 
Equipment, software, and other 66,350,297 3,954,203 3,326,610 66,977,890 
Library holdings   85,113,945      1,624,817     -       86,738,762 

 

Total depreciable property  1,063,811,399      80,903,435     10,455,040        1,134,259,794 
 

Total capital assets 1,151,450,540 133,985,143 95,697,669 1,189,738,014 

Less accumulated depreciation: 
Land improvements 30,171,024 2,893,947 - 33,064,971 
Buildings 284,190,127 16,773,242 5,316,586 295,646,783 
Buildings under capitalized lease 2,352,164 211,385 - 2,563,549 
Equipment, software, and other 52,432,320 4,748,127 3,195,270 53,985,177 
Library holdings   74,588,754      2,127,439     -       76,716,193 

 

Total accumulated depreciation     443,734,389 
 

$   26,754,140        $ 
 

8,511,856 
 

461,976,673 
 

Capital assets - Net 
 
$ 707,716,151 

 
$ 727,761,341 
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Note 4 - Capital Assets (Continued) 
 

The following table presents the changes in the various fixed asset class categories for the year 
ended June 30, 2012: 

 
 

 
  2012   

Beginning 
Balance Additions Deletions Ending Balance 

 

Capital assets: 
Land 

 
$   15,599,578   $ 

 
 1,002,190   $ 

 
- $    16,601,768 

Construction in progress   37,651,605     62,240,061     28,854,293     71,037,373 
 

Total nondepreciable property 53,251,183 63,242,251 28,854,293 87,639,141 

Land improvements 60,649,024 2,458,562 - 63,107,586 
Buildings 796,943,599 41,717,398 - 838,660,997 
Buildings under capitalized lease 10,578,574 - - 10,578,574 
Equipment, software, and other 62,114,321 5,877,006 1,641,030 66,350,297 
Library holdings   82,938,231     2,175,714     -       85,113,945 

 

Total depreciable property   1,013,223,749     52,228,680     1,641,030      1,063,811,399 
 

Total capital assets  1,066,474,932 115,470,931 30,495,323  1,151,450,540 

Less accumulated depreciation: 
Land improvements 27,584,298 2,586,726 - 30,171,024 
Buildings 268,950,134  15,239,993 - 284,190,127 
Buildings under capitalized lease 2,140,778 211,386 - 2,352,164 
Equipment, software, and other 49,049,870 4,972,367 1,589,917 52,432,320 
Library holdings   72,355,108     2,233,646     -       74,588,754 

 

Total accumulated depreciation      420,080,188 
 

$    25,244,118     $ 
 

1,589,917 
 

443,734,389 
 

Capital assets - Net 
 
$ 646,394,744 

 
$ 707,716,151 

 
The estimated cost to complete major construction projects in progress and scheduled to begin is 
approximately $143 million as of June 30, 2013. The University is in the process of renovating a 
donated building to house WMed at an estimated total cost of $69.5 million. A freshmen residence hall 
is expected to be completed in 2015 at a cost of $48 million, and East Campus is being redeveloped to 
include an alumni center at a total cost of $18 million. These projects will be funded from bond 
proceeds and internally designated sources. 
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Note 5 - Long-term Obligations 
 

Long-term obligation activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 is as follows:  
 
 
 

 
Bonds Payable 

2013 Beginning Balance Additions Reductions Ending Balance Current Portion 

General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 
2011, with interest ranging from 3.00% to 5.25%, 
maturing November 15, 2040 $ 

General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009, 
with interest ranging from 4.25% to 5.25%, 

 
 
66,750,000     $ 

 
 
-   $ 2,080,000     $ 

 
 
64,670,000     $ 

 
 
2,145,000 

maturing November 15, 2022 40,510,000 - 2,830,000 37,680,000 2,975,000 

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2008, with interest 
ranging from 3.50% to 5.00%, maturing 
November 15, 2032 113,270,000 - 3,425,000 109,845,000 4,105,000 

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, with interest 
ranging from 3.25% to 5.00%, maturing 
November 15, 2035 33,260,000 - 810,000 32,450,000 835,000 

General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 
2003, with interest ranging from 4.25% to 
5.00%, maturing November 15, 2023 31,925,000 - 2,425,000 29,500,000 2,525,000 

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2002B, with 
interest ranging from 4.41% to 5.42%, maturing 
November 15, 2032 16,160,000 - 445,000 15,715,000 470,000 

 
Notes and Leases Payable 

Capital lease payable for Grand Rapids building, 
with an effective rate of 4.59% and monthly 
payments ranging from $77,754 to $96,677 for 15 
years with two five-year renewal options and a 
buy-out purchase option                                                             3,884,031                                 -                     943,097                 2,940,934                 1,008,854 

 
Total bonds, notes, and leases payable 305,759,031 - 12,958,097 292,800,934 14,063,854 

 
Other Long-term Obligations 

Annuities payable 955,096 - 38,036 917,060 - 
Other postemployment benefits (Note 8) 157,103,744 7,884,788 - 164,988,532 5,041,990 
Accrued compensated absences 14,016,596 3,050 1,453,328    12,566,318 -

 
Total long-term obligations 

 
$ 477,834,467     $ 

 
7,887,838     $ 

 
14,449,461     $ 

 
471,272,844     $ 

 
19,105,844 
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Note 5 - Long-term Obligations (Continued) 
 

Long-term obligation activity for the year ended June 30, 2012 is as follows: 
 

 
 

2012 Beginning Balance Additions Reductions Ending Balance Current Portion 
 

Bonds Payable 
General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 
2011, with interest ranging from 3.00% to 5.25%, 
maturing November 15, 2040   $ 

General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009, 
with interest ranging from 4.25% to 5.25%, 

 
 
 
66,750,000       $ -   $ 

 
 
 
-    $ 66,750,000     $ 

 
 
 
2,080,000 

maturing November 15, 2022 43,255,000 - 2,745,000 40,510,000 2,830,000 

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2008, with interest 
ranging from 3.25% to 5.00%, maturing 
November 15, 2032 117,170,000 - 3,900,000 113,270,000 3,425,000 

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, with interest 
ranging from 3.13% to 5.00%, maturing 
November 15, 2035 34,040,000 - 780,000 33,260,000 810,000 

General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 
2003, with interest ranging from 4.00% to 
5.00%, maturing November 15, 2023 34,230,000 - 2,305,000 31,925,000 2,425,000 

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2002B, with 
interest ranging from 4.41% to 5.42%, maturing 
November 15, 2032 16,580,000 - 420,000 16,160,000 445,000 

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2001, with 
interest at 5.00%, maturing July 15, 2021                                       1,180,000 - 1,180,000 - - 

 
Notes and Leases Payable 

Capital lease payable for Grand Rapids building, 
with an effective rate of 4.59% and monthly 
payments ranging from $77,754 to $96,677 for 15 
years with two five-year renewal options and a 
buy-out purchase option         4,764,681                              -                   880,650                 3,884,031                       943,097 

 
Total bonds, notes, and leases payable 317,969,681  -  12,210,650   305,759,031  12,958,097 

 
Other Long-term Obligations 

Annuities payable 1,038,908                         3,742                       87,554   955,096 - 
Other postemployment benefits (Note 8) 149,239,474 7,864,270 -  157,103,744 4,543,000
Accrued compensated absences 16,111,831 22,333 2,117,568     14,016,596 -

 
Total long-term obligations 

 
$ 484,359,894     $ 

 
7,890,345     $ 

 
14,415,772     $ 

 
477,834,467     $ 

 
17,501,097 
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Note 5 - Long-term Obligations (Continued) 
 

The bonds and notes payable are generally callable by the University. The principal and interest 
amounts are payable as follows: 

 

  Bonds and Notes Payable   

Under Capital 

  Principal    Interest    Total     Lease           
 

 
2014 

 
$ 13,055,000 $ 13,842,681 

 
$ 26,897,681 $  1,120,650 

2015  13,225,000 13,283,704 26,508,704 1,143,064 
2016  14,005,000 12,666,965 26,671,965 870,093 
2017  14,525,000 11,996,559 26,521,559 - 
2018  15,340,000 11,278,340 26,618,340 

2019-2023  83,955,000 44,093,272 128,048,272 - 
2024-2028  53,160,000 27,606,130 80,766,130 - 
2029-2033  53,855,000 13,499,378 67,354,378 - 
2034-2038  19,240,000 4,740,340 23,980,340 - 
2039-2041  9,500,000 765,713 10,265,713   -

 Total $   289,860,000 $   153,773,082 $  443,633,082         3,133,807 
  

Less amount representing 
interest 

 
  (192,873) 

Present value of net 
minimum lease payments 

 

 
$ 2,940,934 

 
 

Interest expense paid by the University on all indebtedness was $14,307,708 and $14,762,976 for the 
years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. This includes construction period interest, which 
is capitalized as part of the cost of the assets constructed of $544,018 and $1,866,279 for the years 
ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

 
Note 6 - Line of Credit 

 
The University obtained a $30,000,000 secured line of credit on March 15, 2013 to provide bridge 
financing for project costs related to the renovation of the building located at 300 Portage Street. 
The amount drawn against this line of credit was $6,655,558 at June 30, 2013. 
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Hospital/Medical claims $ 2,230,000 $  33,629,574 

 
$  (33,609,574) 

 
$ 2,250,000 

Workers’ compensation claims 1,153,276 1,179,116 (959,994) 1,372,398 
Long-term disability claims 3,080,617 (247,752)  (458,336)   2,374,529

 $ 6,463,893 $  34,560,938 $  (35,027,904) $ 5,996,927 

 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2013 and 2012 

 
 

Note 7 - Insurance 
 

The University is a participant in the Michigan Universities Self-Insurance Corporation (MUSIC). This 
organization provides insurance coverage for errors and omissions liability, comprehensive general 
liability, and all risk property insurance. In fiscal year 2013, there are 11 universities that 
participate in MUSIC. Each participating university is responsible for a first tier of losses up to a 
level that has been actuarially determined. MUSIC is financially responsible for a second tier of 
losses. For comprehensive general liability errors and omissions and all risk property insurance, 
MUSIC has purchased excess insurance coverage with commercial insurance carriers to cover a 
third tier of losses. However, in the event the insurance reserves established by MUSIC are 
insufficient to meet its second tier obligations, each of the participating universities share this 
obligation by agreements with MUSIC. 

 
The maximum possible assessment for the University for the year ended June 30, 2013 is $1.5 
million. The University has not been subjected to additional assessments since the formation of 
MUSIC in 1987. Historically, the obligations and expenses (claims) have been less than the 
combined periodic payments and accumulated operational reserves for any given year. 

 
The University is essentially self-insured for hospital/medical, life, and workers’ compensation 
coverage. Stop-loss coverage has been purchased by the University for hospital/medical and 
workers’ compensation. The University is self-insured for long-term disability claims of less than 
six months in duration and for any claims incurred prior to March 5, 2012 that are still payable. As 
of March 5, 2012, the University purchased insurance for claims lasting six months or more. 
Liabilities associated with expected unpaid claims have also been determined and are accrued on 
the balance sheet. Claims activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 is as follows: 

 
 
 

Liability - 
Beginning of Year 

 Claims Incurred, 
Including Changes 
      in Estimates       Claim Payments 

 
 

Liability -                 
 End of Year    
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Note 7 - Insurance (Continued) 
 

Claims activity for the year ended June 30, 2012 is as follows: 
 

 
 

Liability - 
Beginning of Year 

Claims Incurred, 
Including Changes 

in Estimates Claim Payments 

 
Liability - 

End of Year 
 

 
Hospital/Medical claims $ 2,210,000 $  32,006,838 $  (31,986,838) 

 
$ 2,230,000 

Workers’ compensation claims 1,507,182 449,571 (803,477) 1,153,276
Long-term disability claims 2,957,595 702,858 (579,836)   3,080,617

 $ 6,674,777 $ 33,159,267 $  (33,370,151) $ 6,463,893 
 

 
Note 8 - Retirement Plans 

      

 

The University provides noncontributory retirement plans for all qualified employees through plans 
offered by the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System (MPSERS) or the Teachers 
Insurance and Annuity Association and College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF). 

 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

 
Plan Description - The MPSERS plan is a statewide, cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined 
benefit public employee retirement system governed by the State of Michigan that covers some 
employees of the University. The system provides retirement, survivor, and disability benefits to plan 
members and their beneficiaries. The Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System issues 
a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplemental 
information for the system. That report may be obtained by writing to the system at P.O. Box 30171, 
Lansing, MI  48909-7671. 

 
Funding Policy - State statute requires the University to contribute the full actuarially determined 
amount to fund pension benefits. The pension benefit rate totaled 4.11 percent for the period from 
October 1, 2010 through September 30, 2011, and 3.21 percent from October 1, 2011 through June 30, 
2013, of the covered payroll to the plan. The University’s contribution to the MPSERS plan for the 
year ended June 30, 2013 was approximately $6,400,000. Contributions were $5,800,000 for the year 
ended June 30, 2012 and $4,800,000 for the year ended June 30, 2011. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

Postemployment Benefits - Under the MPSERS act, all retirees participating in the MPSERS 
pension plan have the option of continuing health, dental, and vision coverages. Retirees having 
these coverages contribute an amount equivalent to the monthly cost for Part B Medicare and 10 
percent of the monthly premium amount for the health, dental, and vision coverages. The MPSERS 
board of trustees annually sets the employer contribution rate to fund the benefits on a pay-as-you-
go basis. Participating employers are required to contribute at that rate. The employer 
contribution rate was 8.5 percent of covered payroll for the period from July 1, 2012 through 
September 30, 2012. For the period from October 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013, the employer 
contribution rate ranged from 8.18 percent to 9.11 percent dependent upon the employee’s date of 
hire and plan election as noted above. Effective February 1, 2013, members can choose to contribute 
3 percent of their covered payroll to the Retiree Healthcare Fund and keep this premium subsidy 
benefit, or they can elect not to pay the 3 percent contribution and instead  choose the 
Personal Healthcare Fund, which can be used to pay healthcare expenses in retirement. Members 
electing the Personal Healthcare Fund will be automatically enrolled in a 2 percent employee 
contribution into their 457 account as of their transition date and create a 2 percent employer 
match into the employee’s 401(k) account. The University’s required contributions for 
postemployment healthcare benefits, which are funded on a cash basis, were approximately 
$4,200,000, $4,700,000, and $4,700,000 for the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. 

 
Defined Contribution Plan 

 
The University offers all employees eligible for benefits the opportunity to participate in the TIAA-CREF 
plan. Funding for the plan consists of an employer contribution of 11 percent of covered 
compensation for employees hired before January 1, 2013. For participating employees hired on 
or after January 1, 2013, the University contributes 9 percent of covered compensation. The 
University contribution increases to 10 percent if the employee tax-defers at least 1 percent but 
less than 2 percent and to 11 percent if the employee tax-defers 2 percent or more. The University 
has no liability beyond its contribution. Benefits vest immediately for eligible salaried employees and 
vest after a five- year period for eligible hourly nonexempt participants. Contributions for the years 
ended June 30, 2013, 2012, and 2011 were approximately $19,500,000, $18,000,000, and $16,800,000, 
respectively. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

Other Postemployment Benefits 
 

Plan Description - The University provides retiree life insurance, health, and dental care benefits, 
including prescription drug coverage, to retired employees, their spouses, and dependent children. 
Benefits are provided to all retired faculty, academic, and support staff that retired at the age of 55 or 
older and had provided 10 years or more of service to the University for employees hired on or 
before September 1, 2010. Currently, the plan has 2,645 active members, of which 1,743 are eligible 
to receive life insurance upon retirement. Employees who are professional and support staff hired 
after September 1, 2010 pay 100 percent of the premium upon retirement and must be at the age of 
60 or older and have provided 15 or more years of service to the University. Other employee groups’ 
agreements vary based on contracts. 

 
This is a single employer defined benefit plan administered by the University. The benefits are 
provided under collective bargaining agreements. The plan does not issue a separate stand-alone 
financial statement. Administrative costs are paid by the plan through employer contributions (or by 
the employer if not funded through the plan). 

 
Funding Policy - Retirees or their surviving spouses are required to make annual contributions of 
between $763 to $20,485, depending on their age and if their spouse or dependents are covered. The 
University has no obligation to make contributions in advance of when the insurance premiums are 
due for payment (in other words, this may be financed on a “pay-as-you-go” basis). The costs of 
administering the plan are borne by the University. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

Funding Progress - For the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, the University has estimated the 
cost of providing retiree healthcare benefits through an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2013. The 
valuation computes an annual required contribution, which represents a level of funding that, if paid 
on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded 
actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed 30 years. This valuation’s computed contribution 
and actual funding are summarized as follows: 

 

  2013       2012   
 

Annual required contribution (recommended) $ 14,771,713 $ 14,159,842 
Interest on the prior year’s net OPEB obligation 10,086,060 9,581,174 
Less adjustment to annual required contribution   (11,930,985)   (11,333,746) 

 

Annual OPEB cost 12,926,788 12,407,270 
 

Amounts contributed: 
Payments of current premiums  (5,042,000) (4,543,000) 
Advance funding    -          -   

 
Increase in net OPEB obligation 7,884,788 7,864,270 

 

OPEB obligation - Beginning of year        157,103,744       149,239,474 
 

OPEB obligation - End of year $    164,988,532  $  157,103,744 
 

 
The annual OPEB costs, the percentage contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obligation for the 
current and two preceding years were as follows: 

 
  Fiscal Year Ended June 30   

   2013     2012     2011  

Annual OPEB costs $ 12,926,788 $ 12,407,270 $ 15,822,976 

Percentage contributed  39%  37%  33% 

Net OPEB obligation $ 164,988,532 $ 157,103,744 $ 149,239,474 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

The funding progress of the plan as of the most recent valuation date is as follows: 
 

  Valuation as of June 30   
2013 2012 2011 

 
Actuarial value of assets 

 
$ - $ 

 
- $ - 

 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ (132,887,433) $ (130,260,728) $ (121,658,504) 

Unfunded AAL (UAAL) $ (132,887,433) $ (130,260,728) $ (121,658,504) 

Funded ratio 0.00%       0.00%      0.00% 

Annual covered payroll $ 151,355,000 $ 160,395,000 $ 160,395,000 

Ratio of UAAL to covered payroll 87.8%      81.2%     75.8% 
 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions - Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates 
of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of the occurrence of 
events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the 
healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual 
required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of 
funding progress presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan 
assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan 
as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at 
the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the 
employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include 
techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the 
calculations. 

 
In the June 30, 2011 actuarial valuation, the unit credit method was used. The actuarial 
assumptions included a 6.52 percent investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), 
which is a blended rate of the expected long-term investment returns on plan assets and on the 
employer’s own investments calculated based on the funded level of the plan at the valuation date 
and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 8.5 percent initially, reduced by decrements to an 
ultimate rate of 5.0 percent after seven years. Both rates included a 3.5 percent inflation 
assumption. The actuarial value of assets was determined using techniques that spread the effects 
of short-term volatility in the market value of investments over a five-year period. 
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2012, the University used a 6.42 percent investment rate of return, which 
was consistent with the investment’s actual return, to determine the interest on the prior year’s net 
obligation. 

 
In the June 30, 2013 actuarial valuation, the unit credit method was used. The actuarial 
assumptions included a 6.42 percent investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), 
which is a blended rate of the expected long-term investment returns on plan assets and on the 
employer’s own investments calculated based on the funded level of the plan at the valuation date 
and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 8.0 percent initially, reduced by decrements to an 
ultimate rate of 5.0 percent after eight years. Both rates included a 2.5 percent inflation 
assumption. The actuarial value of assets was determined using techniques that spread the effects 
of short-term volatility in the market value of investments over a seven-year period. 

 
Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies 

 
In the normal course of its activities, the University is a party in various legal and regulatory actions. 
The University believes that the outcome of these actions will not have a material effect on the 
financial statements. 

 
Note 10 - New Accounting Pronouncements 

 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued GASB Statement No. 68 requiring 
governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize their unfunded pension benefit 
obligation as a liability for the first time, and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the 
annual costs of pension benefits. The statement also enhances accountability and transparency 
through revised note disclosures and required supplemental information (RSI). The University is 
currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on the financial statements when adopted. 
The total pension liability will be computed on a different basis than the current actuarial accrued 
liability and the method of allocating this liability to each participating employer has not yet been 
determined, so the precise impact is not known. The provisions of this statement are effective for 
financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2015. 
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